# SUBORDINATE LEGISLATION COMMITTEE

Tuesday 15 January 2002 (*Morning*)

Session 1

£5.00

© Parliamentary copyright. Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body 2002.

Applications for reproduction should be made in writing to the Copyright Unit, Her Majesty's Stationery Office, St Clements House, 2-16 Colegate, Norwich NR3 1BQ Fax 01603 723000, which is administering the copyright on behalf of the Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body.

Produced and published in Scotland on behalf of the Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body by The Stationery Office Ltd.

Her Majesty's Stationery Office is independent of and separate from the company now trading as The Stationery Office Ltd, which is responsible for printing and publishing Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body publications.

# CONTENTS

# Tuesday 15 January 2002

	Col.
DELEGATED POWERS SCRUTINY	725
Education (Disability Strategies and Pupils' Records) (Scotland) Bill	
EXECUTIVE RESPONSES	
Local Government Pension Scheme (Scotland) Amendment Regulations 2001 (SSI 2001/460)	729
Housing (Scotland) Act 2001 (Commencement No 3, Transitional Provisions and Savings) Order	
2001(SSI 2001/467)	731
Ethical Standards in Public Life etc (Scotland) Act 2000 (Commencement No 2 and Transitional	
Provisions) Order 2001 (SSI 2001/474)	731
INSTRUMENTS SUBJECT TO ANNULMENT	732
Panels of Persons to Safeguard the Interests of Children (Scotland) Regulations 2001 (SSI 2001/476) .	732
Curators ad Litem and Reporting Officers (Panels) (Scotland) Regulations 2001 (SSI 2001/477)	732
Children's Hearings (Legal Representation) (Scotland) Rules 2001 (SSI 2001/478)	732
Import and Export Restrictions (Foot-and-Mouth Disease) (Scotland) (No 3) Amendment (No 2)	
Regulations 2001(SSI 2001/483)	
Scotland Act 1998 (Agency Arrangements) (Specification) Order 2001 (SI/2001/3917)	
BSE Monitoring (Scotland) Amendment Regulations 2002 (SSI 2002/1)	734
INSTRUMENTS NOT LAID BEFORE THE PARLIAMENT	
Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (Commencement No 4) Order 2001 (SSI 2001/475)	735
Act of Adjournal (Criminal Procedural Rules Amendment)	
(Convention Rights (Compliance) (Scotland) Act 2001) (SSI 2001/479)	
Police Act 1997 (Commencement No 8) (Scotland) Order 2001 (SSI 2001/482)	735
Act of Adjournal (Criminal Procedural Rules Amendment No 2)	
(Terrorism Act 2000 and Anti-Terrorism, Crime and Security Act 2001) 2001 (SSI 2001/486)	735
Act of Sederunt (Rules of the Court of Session Amendment No 6) (Terrorism Act 2000) 2001	
(SSI 2001/494)	735

# SUBORDINATE LEGISLATION COMMITTEE 2<sup>nd</sup> Meeting 2002, Session 1

#### CONVENER

\*Ms Margo MacDonald (Lothians) (SNP)

#### **D**EPUTY CONVENER

\*lan Jenkins (Tweeddale, Ettrick and Lauderdale) (LD)

#### **COMMITTEE MEMBERS**

\*Bill Butler (Glasgow Anniesland) (Lab) \*Colin Campbell (West of Scotland) (SNP) \*Murdo Fraser (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) \*Gordon Jackson (Glasgow Govan) (Lab) \*Bristow Muldoon (Livingston) (Lab)

\*attended

CLERK

Alasdair Rankin

SENIOR ASSISTANT CLERK Steve Farrell

**ASSISTANT CLERK** Alistair Fleming

LOC ATION Committee Room 3

# **Scottish Parliament**

### Subordinate Legislation Committee

Tuesday 15 January 2002

(Morning)

[THE CONVENER opened the meeting at 11:27]

## **Delegated Powers Scrutiny**

#### Education (Disability Strategies and Pupils' Records) (Scotland) Bill

The Convener (Ms Margo MacDonald): Good morning and welcome to the second meeting in this year of our Lord 2002 of the Subordinate Legislation Committee.

The first item on the agenda is delegated powers scrutiny. We have discussed aspects of the bill, formally and informally. Does anyone have anything to say on the regulations for accessibility strategies? Questions were raised about whether the regulations are prescriptive enough or whether they are drafted in the interest of greater flexibility. As a committee, we see the sense of the latter, but the regulations have not been spelled out enough.

Jenkins (Tweeddale, Ettrick lan and Lauderdale) (LD): The bill is concerned with strategies for dealing with disabled pupils. The Executive might want to keep the regulationmaking powers and their definitions reasonably wide, to allow it to consider individual cases and to respond to them in regulations. A balance must be struck between being prescriptive by defining tightly terms such as "education" and "an associated service" and restricting good practice on the ground. Therefore, I am inclined to think that it is reasonable for the definitions to be fairly wide and then to have regulations that are more specific.

People being what they are, and with the variety of situations that come up in these matters, one would not want the definitions stuck forever in primary legislation. That would mean that particular circumstances could not be dealt with because the primary legislation had too tight a definition. The issue is about achieving a balance. I would be inclined to allow the Executive the flexibility not to define terms too fully in the bill.

The Convener: I agree, but a right is involved as well.

lan Jenkins: I accept that.

**The Convener:** As a committee, we must be careful about the rights of vulnerable groups. The Executive said that we will see the draft regulations. There will also be guidance for local authorities.

I have a question for Bristow Muldoon. We talked a lot about this matter before he got here this morning. Has the Executive struck the right balance in not defining this area more closely in the bill and leaving it as flexible as possible? The Executive has done that because the accessibility strategy is to be introduced in a rolling way as and when—I presume—local authorities change their provision of service and facilities to facilitate mainstream education for children with disabilities.

#### 11:30

**Bristow Muldoon (Livingston) (Lab):** To be honest, I have not gone through the bill in detail, so I do not know that I am in a position to give you strong guidance about whether I feel that that balance is appropriate. Perhaps we should draw the issue to the attention of the Education, Culture and Sport Committee, which will consider the bill in detail. That committee will be able to assess whether it feels that the particular types of provision should be dealt with under delegated authority as opposed to being in the bill.

The Convener: One cannot help agreeing with what Ian Jenkins said. The European convention on human rights also comes into this, so the belt and braces might be already there. It might not be necessary to have the core definition included in the bill—which is what we want. However, I think that it is worth while mentioning to the Executive that we think that, as a general point of principle, it is not a good idea to leave core definitions out of bills.

Mr Jackson is looking troubled. Are you not bothered?

Gordon Jackson (Glasgow Govan) (Lab): No, not at all.

The Convener: The clerk advises me that we could write to the Executive and ask it why it has chosen this method. I think that the Executive will tell us that it did so to allow for maximum flexibility. We understand that. However, I think that we can write to the Executive and ask that question. Do members agree?

#### Members indicated agreement.

**The Convener:** Fine. That takes us on to the regulations concerning pupils' records. Does any member want to raise anything on this matter? The Executive has said that there will be a public consultation on the draft regulations, but I do not know where, when, how, why or with whom.

Colin Campbell (West of Scotland) (SNP): I worry a little about the suggestion that there will be a charge for supplying pupil records to parents who request them. Whether that is to cover necessary costs, whether those costs will be consistent throughout the country, or whether parents should be charged at all is probably not for us to decide.

**The Convener:** No. That is one of the matters that we can mention to the lead committee.

**Gordon Jackson:** As Colin Campbell hinted, that is the substantive principle of the bill, rather than one of the technicalities.

The Convener: Do members want to mention the cost of receiving records? According to the regulations, the cost to the parent or whoever should not exceed the cost of producing that record—which will vary from authority to authority. The regulations do not say whether that is an individual charge. It would only really make sense if it were that. Do members want to mention the money?

**Ian Jenkins:** We must be careful that we do not deal with policy, but we can point out to the lead committee, of which I am a member, that the bill is not clear about the principle of charging. We are entitled to say that the bill is not clear and that the lead committee should consider that issue further. We can present that sort of argument.

**The Convener:** That is fine. The other question that we could put in writing to the Executive is whether it has a charging regime. We do not take issue with the regulations, which are flexible. However, we are asking how the Executive thinks that they will work.

lan Jenkins: Yes.

**The Convener:** The other issue is the business that I raised about consultation. Should there be a formal requirement to consult? If so, should that appear in the bill?

**Ian Jenkins:** Does not it say in the legal brief that a consultation is taking place anyway?

The Convener: No one seems to be particularly interested.

**Gordon Jackson:** My personal view is that, as a general rule, where consultation is a good thing and where a Government says, "We intend to consult", I tend to want that intention to be specified in the legislation. As I have said before, Governments come and go, but bills sometimes go on forever. If consultation is the right thing to do, I can never understand what harm it would do to specify in a bill that the Government of the day shall consult before it does something. That would cover the situation when, 20 years down the road, someone says, "Ach—Ah'm no bothered." I have never understood why, if everyone thinks that a requirement to consult is a good thing, that requirement should not be specified in the statute.

**The Convener:** That means a letter to the Executive and to the lead committee.

### **Executive Responses**

#### Local Government Pension Scheme (Scotland) Amendment Regulations 2001 (SSI 2001/460)

The Convener: We come to another lulu: the Executive's response to our questions on the regulations, which concern the pension rights of people who were transferred from Scottish Homes to the Scottish Executive. We are not arguing that should those staff not have been accommodated-of course that should have happened-but there may be a doubt over whether the Executive has used the correct powers. I cannot recollect the specific power under the Scotland Act 1998 that would allow the Executive to issue an appropriate order, but it has interpreted the legislation as allowing it to do so. However, the area of civil service pensions is wholly reserved, so the question is whether the Executive can do what it has done.

Murdo Fraser (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con): It would be fair to say that our legal adviser is still concerned about the vires of the regulations. Although we have already raised the issue and have received a response from the Executive, we need to put our concerns on record.

The Convener: We are out of time, because the 20 days will expire two weeks from today. In any event, we do not have time to revisit the issue properly. We must put on record at least our query whether the matter has been dealt with correctly, because the regulations deal with public servants' pensions and therefore must be transparently and absolutely right. For that reason alone, we should say to the Executive that its responses have not absolutely convinced us that it has dealt with the matter in the best way.

**Colin Campbell:** This is a constitutional grey area.

The Convener: Yes.

**Bill Butler (Glasgow Anniesland) (Lab):** It is a possible constitutional grey area.

The Convener: No—it really is a difficult area.

Colin Campbell: I am not stirring it.

The Convener: I am not going for anyone, but there are difficulties with lots of issues in these regulations. There are always ways of getting round those difficulties and we are wondering whether the Executive has done so in the best possible way.

Bill Butler: Okay.

**Bristow Muldoon:** We should also note that, from our legal briefing, it would seem that the proposals may benefit the people affected. The

Executive is not eroding their pension rights and the intention of the regulations is worthy. The only question that has been raised is whether the regulations are legally watertight and, obviously, the Executive believes that they are. We note that the intention is honourable and that the Executive believes that it has the power to allow certain people to remain members of the local government pension scheme. The Executive is not transferring civil servants into that scheme—it is allowing people who were previously employed by Scottish Homes to remain in that scheme.

The Convener: That is not in our remit.

The knock-on effect of the regulations is that two lots of civil servants are now working for the Scottish Executive, and the interests of some of them have been protected by the transfer, while others were not lucky enough to work for Scottish Homes and do not have the same level of provision.

**Bristow Muldoon:** In any other circumstance in which members of staff transfer with higher pension rights, one would not expect—and the Parliament would not want—an erosion of their rights.

**The Convener:** I am not arguing for a levelling down of pension rights.

**Colin Campbell:** We are all perfectly agreed that we want the best for the employees. All that we are saying is that there appears to be a mildly constitutional grey area that bothers our legal adviser. If I were to raise a constitutional issue, I would hit members with it head on—I would not footer about with it.

**Gordon Jackson:** All that we can do is to ensure that the Executive is alive to the problem that has been suggested, although it might say, "Yes—thanks very much. We have thought about and are alive to it"—

Colin Campbell: But, "and we are ignoring you."

**Gordon Jackson:** No—"and we think that, for the following reasons, technically we are okay." To be frank, half the time it is beyond us to know whether, technically, the Executive is right or not. I defy any member who says that they are an expert on such statutory interpretation—I certainly know that I am not. All that we can do is to point out the problem and acknowledge that the Executive has made up its mind. If someone challenges the regulations, the decision will be made in another place. I do not think that we have the competence to turn round and say, "Well, we've made up our minds—you're wrong." Perhaps we could do so sometimes, but certainly not in a situation such as this one. [*Interruption.*] What is wrong?

**The Convener:** Nothing—we are absolutely amazed at how eruditely you put that point.

Gordon Jackson: I am amazed that you are amazed.

The Convener: This is not the first time that we have raised a query over how something has been done, and it will not be the last time. In fact, it is probably the committee's job to point out that this is another of those times.

#### Housing (Scotland) Act 2001 (Commencement No 3, Transitional Provisions and Savings) Order 2001 (SSI 2001/467)

**The Convener:** Do we wish to draw the order to the attention of Parliament on the ground that it does not follow good drafting practice? The explanatory note that accompanies the order is not adequate.

Members indicated agreement.

**The Convener:** Good. People should be able to read the explanatory note.

#### Ethical Standards in Public Life etc (Scotland) Act 2000 (Commencement No 2 and Transitional Provisions) Order 2001 (SSI 2001/474)

**The Convener:** We need raise no points on the order as the Executive's response to our inquiries was helpful. Do members agree?

Members indicated agreement.

## Instruments Subject to Annulment

Panels of Persons to Safeguard the Interests of Children (Scotland) Regulations 2001 (SSI 2001/476)

Curators ad Litem and Reporting Officers (Panels) (Scotland) Regulations 2001 (SSI 2001/477)

#### Children's Hearings (Legal Representation) (Scotland) Rules 2001 (SSI 2001/478)

The Convener: We now come to instruments that are subject to annulment. Three regulations were deferred from our meeting last week, in addition to a commencement order that we will come to later. We received the Executive's response, but there are still points that concern us. At the moment, we will not bother about the minor typographical and grammatical points. However, there is a series of important points. Do members wish to say anything?

11:45

Murdo Fraser: I will assist.

The Convener: Yes please.

Murdo Fraser: I was afraid that you would say that.

The basis of the Panels of Persons to Safeguard the Interests of Children (Scotland) Regulations 2001 (SSI 2001/476) and the Curators ad Litem and Reporting Officers (Panels) (Scotland) Regulations 2001 (SSI 2001/477) is the same, so the same points apply to both instruments. We raised a number of points by letter, but the Executive's response does not deal adequately with some of them. The regulations contain some typos, but there are more significant points, which I will run through briefly. Regulation 3(2) of both instruments creates confusion about the number of panels that there will be in each area.

**The Convener:** The Executive response states that regulation 3(2)

"allows for more than one panel for each area to be established and this is intentional."

**Murdo Fraser:** That is not clear, because if more than one panel is established in each area, the present panels will have to be reconstituted.

The Convener: Yes. The Executive stated that it does not intend to do that. We are not accusing anyone—we understand the intentions, but we think that they are not spelled out properly. Another point is whether, in addition to judicial review, there is a right of appeal against a local authority's decision under regulation 7(3) of both instruments. We are not sure about that, but that is important.

The regulations that are revoked by regulation 11(1) of both instruments were made under section 103 of the Children Act 1975, which has not yet been repealed, although it will be. The regulations are not correct at present, but the situation will change, so we do not have to concern ourselves with that point.

There is an issue about the payment of legal representatives. In both instruments, regulation 11(2) appears to exclude persons who are appointed under the old regulations from acting under the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 and from payment under regulation 10(2). Is that the Executive's intention?

**Bill Butler:** Panel members and safeguarders are allowed fees and allowances, but regulation 10(2) seems not to allow fees and allowances for legal representatives. That seems doubtful. We should sort out those two groupings.

**The Convener:** Another point that can be fixed is that the Curators ad Litem and Reporting Officers (Panels) (Scotland) Regulations 2001 (SSI 2001/477) has not been drafted in gender neutral terms.

I am advised that the issues that we have raised must go into the committee's report because we do not have time to write to the Executive. The points concern important aspects of the legislation. They will appear in the report, because we cannot do anything else. There are many typos in the regulations, so we should include in our report the general observation that, for such definitive legislation, the drafting is not as tight as it might have been.

Ian Jenkins: There is also an issue about the choice of panel members. One would expect some members of the panel to have legal qualifications, and although that might be what happens in common practice, it is not stipulated in the regulations. That matter ties in with representing children in other ways. If panel members are to represent children, we would want some of them to have legal qualifications. That hole in the regulations should be drawn to the Executive's attention. Again, I imagine that it is not the intention to leave a loophole. Perhaps it is okay to trust that people will have the good sense to ensure that some panel members have legal qualifications. However, we ought to draw the gap to the attention of the Executive.

The Convener: Is it a lacuna?

lan Jenkins: Absolutely.

Gordon Jackson: Lily of Lacuna.

**Colin Campbell:** The convener is too young to remember that.

The Convener: Do members know the second verse?

lan Jenkins: Behave.

**The Convener:** Do members want to mention anything else about the regulations that should appear in our report? Regulation 11 of both instruments might raise vires issues.

**Ian Jenkins:** There are many technicalities; it is difficult to discuss them without confusing ourselves and anyone who is listening. We should ask the clerks to use the legal brief as the basis for the points in the report.

**The Convener:** The points that we have discussed—formally and informally—will be incorporated in the committee's report.

I am amazed that so many points are not quite right. For example, it is possible that the wrong powers might have been cited in the Children's Hearings (Legal Representation) (Scotland) Rules 2001 (SSI 2001/478). There seem to be many serious mistakes in the drafting of all three instruments. Do members agree to include all those points in the report?

Members indicated agreement.

#### Import and Export Restrictions (Foot-and-Mouth Disease) (Scotland) (No 3) Amendment (No 2) Regulations 2001(SSI 2001/483)

**The Convener:** The regulations contain some minor typos. Do members agree to send an informal note to the Executive?

Members indicated agreement.

#### Scotland Act 1998 (Agency Arrangements) (Specification) Order 2001 (SI/2001/3917)

The Convener: The order is going to be revoked, so we need not concern ourselves with it.

#### BSE Monitoring (Scotland) Amendment Regulations 2002 (SSI 2002/1)

**The Convener:** No points arise on the regulations, other than to thank the Executive for the helpful explanatory note.

# Instruments Not Laid Before the Parliament

#### Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (Commencement No 4) Order 2001 (SSI 2001/475)

**The Convener:** No points arise on the order because another commencement order will be made to correct a defect that the committee pointed out to the Executive.

#### Act of Adjournal (Criminal Procedural Rules Amendment) (Convention Rights (Compliance) (Scotland) Act 2001) (SSI 2001/479)

#### Police Act 1997 (Commencement No 8) (Scotland) Order 2001 (SSI 2001/482)

The Convener: No points arise on the instruments.

#### Act of Adjournal (Criminal Procedural Rules Amendment No 2) (Terrorism Act 2000 and Anti-Terrorism, Crime and Security Act 2001) 2001 (SSI 2001/486)

#### Act of Sederunt (Rules of the Court of Session Amendment No 6) (Terrorism Act 2000) 2001 (SSI 2001/494)

**The Convener:** I still do not know what an act of sederunt is—I really must find out about them. Gordon, do you know about acts of sederunt? I know that we are talking about the Terrorism Act 2000. [*Interruption.*]

I am sorry—I seem to have omitted to mention the act of adjournal. No, I think that I did mention it. Did I not? **Colin Campbell:** The legal secretary of the Lord President has written us a letter, correcting a mistake in the act of adjournal.

**The Convener:** Yes, the mistake has been corrected. I forgot to mention that because I was so excited by the act of sederunt, on which no points have been noted.

Does the clerk wish to give the committee any information about next week's meeting?

Alasdair Rankin (Clerk): It is likely that there will be three bills on next week's agenda, including the Land Reform (Scotland) Bill, which has many subordinate legislation provisions. As a result, it will be a full meeting with a full legal briefing beforehand.

**Murdo Fraser:** There goes the legal adviser's week end.

The Convener: And we will start on time next week. Thank you, everyone.

Meeting closed at 11:57.

Members who would like a printed copy of the Official Report to be forwarded to them should give notice at the Document Supply Centre.

No proofs of the Official Report can be supplied. Members who want to suggest corrections for the archive edition should mark them clearly in the daily edition, and send it to the Official Report, 375 High Street, Edinburgh EH99 1SP. Suggested corrections in any other form cannot be accepted.

The deadline for corrections to this edition is:

#### Tuesday 22 January 2002

Members who want reprints of their speeches (within one month of the date of publication) may obtain request forms and further details from the Central Distribution Office, the Document Supply Centre or the Official Report.

PRICES AND SUBSCRIPTION RATES

DAILY EDITIONS

Single copies: £5 Meetings of the Parliament annual subscriptions: £350.00

The archive edition of the Official Report of meetings of the Parliament, written answers and public meetings of committees will be published on CD-ROM.

WHAT'S HAPPENING IN THE SCOTTISH PARLIAMENT, compiled by the Scottish Parliament Information Centre, contains details of past and forthcoming business and of the work of committees and gives general information on legislation and other parliamentary activity.

Single copies: £3.75 Special issue price: £5 Annual subscriptions: £150.00

WRITTEN ANSWERS TO PARLIAMENTARY QUESTIONS weekly compilation

Single copies: £3.75 Annual subscriptions: £150.00

Standing orders will be accepted at the Document Supply Centre.

Published in Edinburgh by The Stationery Office Limited and available from:

The Stationery Office Bookshop 71 Lothian Road Edinburgh EH3 9AZ 0131 228 4181 Fax 0131 622 7017	The Stationery Office Scottish Parliament Documentation Helpline may be able to assist with additional information on publications of or about the Scottish Parliament, their availability and cost:	The Scottish Parliament Shop George IV Bridge EH99 1SP Telephone orders 0131 348 5412
The Stationery Office Bookshops at: 123 Kingsway, London WC2B 6PQ Tel 020 7242 6393 Fax 020 7242 6394	Telephone orders and inquiries 0870 606 5566	sp.info@scottish.parliament.uk
68-69 Bull Street, Birmingham B4 6AD Tel 0121 236 9696 Fax 0121 236 9699 33 Wine Street, Bristol BS1 2BQ Tel 01179 264306 Fax 01179 294515	Fax orders 0870 606 5588	www.scottish.parliament.uk
9-21 Princess Street, Manchester M60 8AS Tel 0161 834 7201 Fax 0161 833 0634 16 Arthur Street, Belfast BT1 4GD Tel 028 9023 8451 Fax 028 9023 5401		Accredited Agents (see Yellow Pages)
The Stationery Office Oriel Bookshop, 18-19 High Street, Cardiff CF12BZ Tel 029 2039 5548 Fax 029 2038 4347		and through good booksellers
	Printed in Scotland by The Stationery Office Limited	ISBN 0 338 000003 ISSN 1467-0178